No. 45487-4-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LEOVIGILDO PEREZ GUTIERREZ, JR.,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable John McCarthy, Judge

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK WSBA No. 23879 Counsel for Appellant

RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE Post Office Box 31017 Seattle, Washington 98103 (206) 782-3353

PM 5-31-14

1.	Procedural Facts
	2.	Testimony at trial
D.	ARGUMENT	
	1. 2.	THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE ALL THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CHARGED CRIMES AND THE PROSECUTOR'S REPEATED MISSTATEMENTS OF THE LAW WERE FLAGRANT, ILL-INTENTIONED MISCONDUCT
	Ζ.	WITH STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS IN IMPOSING LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS
E.	<u>CONC</u>	<u>CLUSION</u>

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

r

ŝ

<u>Dependency of K.N.J.</u> , 171 Wn.2d 568, 257 P.3d 522 (2011)14
<u>State v. Bahl</u> , 164 Wn.2d 739, 193 P.3d 678 (2008) 17, 21
<u>State v. Blank</u> , 131 Wn.2d 230, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997) 19
<u>State v. Charlton</u> , 90 Wn.2d 657, 585 P.2d 142 (1978) 10
<u>State v. Cronin</u> , 142 Wn.2d 568, 14 P.3d 752 (2000) 8, 12, 13
State v. Curry, 118 Wn.2d 911, 829 P.2d 166 (1992) 17, 19
State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984) 12
State v. Deal, 128 Wn.2d 693, 911 P.2d 996 (1996) 16
<u>State v. Ford</u> , 137 Wn.2d 427, 973 P.2d 452 (1999) 17
<u>State v. Green</u> , 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980), <u>reversed in part and</u> on other grounds by <u>Washington v. Recuenco</u> , 548 U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006)7
State v. Hanna, 123 Wn.2d 704, 871 P.2d 135 (1994), reversed on other grounds on petition for writ of habeus corpus sub nom Hanna v. Riveland, 87 F.3d 1034 (9 th Circ. 1996)
State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 917 P.3d 563 (1996)14
<u>State v. Huson</u> , 73 Wn.2d 660, 440 P.2d 192 (1968), <u>cert</u> . <u>denied</u> , 393 U.S. 1096 (1969)
State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471, 14 P.3d 713 (2000)
<u>State v. Rotunno</u> , 95 Wn.2d 931, 631 P.2d 951 (1981) 8
<u>State v. Studd</u> , 137 Wn.2d 533, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999) 14
Welfare of Wilson, 91 Wn.2d 487, 588 P.2d 1161 (1979)

WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS

. .

.

<u>State v. Bertrand</u> , 165 Wn. App. 393, 267 P.3d 511 (2011), <u>review denied</u> , 175 Wn.2d 1014 (2012)
<u>State v. Blazina</u> , 174 Wn. App. 906, 301 P.3d 492, <u>review granted</u> , 178 Wn.2d 1010 (2013)
<u>State v. Burns</u> , 159 Wn. App. 74, 244 P.3d 988 (2010) 19
<u>State v. Calvin</u> ,176 Wn. App. 1, 302 P.3d 509 (2013) (as amended 10/22/13), <u>review granted</u> , Wn.2d (2014)
State v. Flerning, 83 Wn. App. 209, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996) 8, 12, 13
<u>State v. French</u> , 101 Wn. App. 380, 4 P.3d 857 (2000), <u>review denied</u> , 142 Wn.2d 1022 (2001)17, 19
<u>State v. Lundy</u> , 176 Wn. App. 96, 308 P.3d 755 (2013) 12
State v. Paine, 69 Wn. App. 873, 850 P.2d 1369 (1993) 16
State v. Stith, 71 Wn. App. 14, 856 P.2d 415 (1993)
State v. Suarez-Bravo, 72 Wn. App. 359, 864 P.2d 426 (1994)7
State v. Yarbrough, 151 Wn. App. 66, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009)6

FEDERAL CASELAW

In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970) 14
<u>Jackson v. Virginia</u> , 443 U.S. 307, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)
RULES, STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
14 th Amend

Article I, section 22
RCW 10.01.160(3) 8, 9, 12
RCW 10.82.090
RCW 9.35.020
RCW 9.94A.760
RCW 9A.08.020(3)
RCW 9A.56.140(1)
RCW 9A.56.150(1)(c)
RCW 9A.60.020(1)(a)(b)

A. <u>ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

- 1. There was insufficient evidence to prove appellant Leovigildo Perez Gutierrez, Jr., guilty as an accomplice to identity theft and forgery committed by another man.
- 2. The insufficiency was exacerbated by the prosecutor's flagrant, prejudicial and ill-intentioned misconduct in repeatedly misstating the law of accomplice liability and counsel's ineffectiveness in failing to object to that misconduct.
- 3. There was insufficient evidence to prove appellant committed identity theft and possession of stolen property as a principal.
- 4. The trial court erred as a matter of law in failing to comply with RCW 10.01.160(3) when imposing discretionary legal financial obligations.

B. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

1. To prove appellant guilty as an accomplice to identity theft and forgery committed by another, the prosecution had to show that he participated in some way or took some acts with intent to facilitate the crimes.

> Was there insufficient evidence to prove Gutierrez, Jr., was guilty as an accomplice when the evidence showed only that he and others arrived in a car driven by the man who tried to pass a bad check, was present in the room when the other man took those actions and got upset when the clerk refused to return the other man's identification and check?

- 2. Did the prosecutor commit flagrant, prejudicial and illintentioned misconduct by repeatedly misstating the law of accomplice liability by telling the jury that the law was that a defendant was "in for a penny, in for a pound?" Was counsel prejudicially ineffective in failing to take any steps to mitigate the prejudice to his client?
- 3. Was there insufficient evidence to prove a second count of identity theft and possession of stolen property based solely on simple possession of the credit card of another without any evidence that the card had been used or attempted to be used or that Gutierrez, Jr., intended to use it?
- 4. Under RCW 10.01.160(3), did the trial court err as a matter of law in failing to determine the defendant's actual ability

to pay and the potential effect of the imposition of several thousand dollars on the indigent defendant before imposing discretionary legal financial obligations?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

Appellant Leovigildo Perez Gutierrez, Jr., was charged by corrected amended information with three counts of second-degree identity theft, two counts of forgery and one count of second-degree possession of stolen property. CP 59-61; RCW 9.35.020(3), RCW 9A.56.140(1), RCW 9A.56.150(1)(c), RCW 9A.60.020(1)(a)(b). After pretrial continuances and other matters on March 20, 2013, before the Honorable Ronald Culpepper, and on May 8, July 1, August 1 and September 17, 2013, before the Honorable Bryan Chuschcoff, a jury trial was held before the Honorable John McCarthy on October 2, 3, 7 and 8, 2013.¹ The jury could not agree and a mistrial was declared on one count of second-degree identity theft and one count of forgery. CP 103-108. The jury convicted Gutierrez, Jr., of two counts of second-degree identity theft, one count of forgery and one count of possession of stolen property. CP 103-108.

On October 18, 2013, Judge McCarthy imposed standard-range sentences. CP 109-21. Gutierrez, Jr. appealed and this pleading follows.

the proceedings of March 20, 2013, as "1RP;" May 8, 2013, as "2RP;"

¹The verbatim report of proceedings in this case consists of 11 volumes, not all of which are chronologically paginated. They will be referred to as follows:

July 1, 2013, as "3RP;"

August 1, 2013, as "4RP;"

September 4, 2013, at "5RP;" September 17, 2013, as "6RP;"

the four chronologically paginated volumes containing the trial proceedings of October 2, 3, 7 and 8, 2013, as "7RP;"

the sentencing proceeding of October 18, 2013, as "SRP,"

See CP 125.

2. <u>Testimony at trial</u>

In early February, 2013, a man named Jimmy Visario went into a "Checkmate" check-cashing store to get a "payday" loan. RP 289. Jeannette Abdon was working at Checkmate that day and remembered helping Visario with that transaction. RP 289. Part of what she had done involved calling his bank, verifying his identification and verifying his job with his employer. RP 289-90.

A few days later, on February 7, 2013, Abdon said, "customer Jimmy" came in seeming happy, saying he was going to pay off his payday loan and cash a check. RP 291. He presented a check to Abdon and she noted that the company listed on it was different than the one Visario had listed as his employer a few days earlier. RP 292. She told him she would need to call the employer to verify the check was issued to him and Visario said, "okay." RP 292.

The check had Valley Medical Center as the payee so Abdon called there. RP 293. A senior accountant at Valley Medical Center testified about being contacted about the check, running Visario's name through the company database and determining that he was not listed as an employee. RP 27-476. She did further research and found that the check Visario was trying to cash was actually issued to someone named Mary Franklin. RP 276. Franklin, a registered nurse at Valley Medical Center, testified that her paycheck had not arrived in her mailbox in January of that year. RP 267. She did not know anyone named Visario. RP 267-68.

After Abdon got off the phone, she told Visario that she was going

to have to call the "cops" because that was what the Valley Medical Center people had told her to do. RP 293. Abdon, who still had Visario's identification and the check he had tried to present, said Visario seemed "nervous" at that but that he told her everything was "fine," because the check was made out to him and there was nothing wrong with it. RP 294. A guy who was with Visario got upset, however, telling the clerk to give Visario back his identification and saying "that they didn't want to cash a check with us." RP 294. Abdon said she told that guy to calm down, that it was "Jimmy's check" and did not involve him. RP 294-95.

Several officers went to the Checkmate after Abdon's call. Detective Thomas Gow of the Fife Police Department (FPD) testified about arriving, frisking Visario and reading him his rights. RP 368-73. FPD Detective Michael Malave contacted the other man, later identified as Leovigildo Perez Gutierrez, Jr., telling him he was being detained and then trying to search him. RP 319-22. The officer said that the man seemed "reluctant" and pulled away with his hands in his pockets so the officer put him in handcuffs. RP 319-22.

Jeff Nolta, also with FPD, arrived and spoke to Abdon, getting her version of events. RP 226-34. Abdon said there were some other people also involved who were in a vehicle outside. RP 232, 296. Nolta had another officer track those people down and speak to them. RP 199-200. That officer, patrol Commander David Woods, said he "detained" those people but "the information obtained from them was determined they were not involved with the call" and were only "associated." RP 185-86. As a result, Woods released them. RP 187, 200.

Woods, Malave and Gow all said that, at some point, Nolta told them there was probable cause to arrest Visario and Gutierrez, Jr. RP 186, 322-23, 368-73. Malave searched Gutierrez, Jr., finding a billing statement for insurance in Visario's name, a partially filled-out money transfer form from Western Union with Gutierrez, Jr.'s, name on it, and an Alaska Airlines Visa card in the name of Wilbur Bowen. RP 278, 364-65. Bowen testified that he was expecting to get a new Visa card at the end of 2012 but it did not arrive. RP 278. He did not think he got any bills for his card for things he did not incur and he just got another card. RP 281-85.

At that point, Nolta conducted a search of the car the men had arrived in after getting Visario's consent. RP 187. Nolta admitted that he asked for Visario's consent (not that of Gutierrez, Jr.) because Visario was the registered owner of the vehicle. RP 208-210. Inside the car, on the center console between the front passenger's seat and the driver's seat, was a brown vinyl envelope with a number of documents inside. RP 239-40. One of the documents was a check which was verified to be a valid check drawn on an account Visario had. RP 242-43. Another document was a check for thirty dollars which appeared to have "payer" information erased. RP 245. There was also a check in the amount of \$406 which appeared to have the payee portion erased and Visario's name added. RP 245-46.

Also inside the envelope was a credit card application for an American Express card. RP 248. The application was filled out with the name Vickie D. Friend and had a date of birth and social security number

on it. RP 248-49. The application also had a mailing address written on it which was crossed out. Another address was added and an officer stated that the address was listed on Gutierrez, Jr.'s driver status at the time of trial. RP 249. Vickie Friend testified that it was her name and social security on the application but the wrong phone number and address. RP 311-312. No account had ever been opened or charges made on her accounts or anything similar. RP 312-22.

An officer admitted that the envelope could have been reached by a passenger in the front seat, the driver, or by either passenger in the back seat. RP 240. Another officer testified that the inside of the pouch would have been an "ideal" place to recover fingerprints. RP 265.

The jury hung on the charges of identity theft and forgery for the application for Vickie Friend but convicted of the other offenses as charged. CP 103-108.

D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE ALL THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CHARGED CRIMES AND THE PROSECUTOR'S REPEATED MISSTATEMENTS OF THE LAW WERE FLAGRANT, ILL-INTENTIONED MISCONDUCT

Under both the state and federal due process clauses, the state has the burden of proving each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); <u>State v. Hanna</u>, 123 Wn.2d 704, 710, 871 P.2d 135 (1994), <u>reversed on other grounds on petition for writ of habeus</u> <u>corpus sub nom Hanna v. Riveland</u>, 87 F.3d 1034 (9th Circ. 1996); 14th Amend.; Art. 1, § 3. When the prosecution fails to meet that burden, reversal and dismissal with prejudice is required. <u>See Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979).

In this case, this Court should hold, first, that there was insufficient evidence to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt for counts I and II, the second-degree identity theft and forgery charges for the Valley Medical Center check Visario tried to cash at Checkmate. Second, this Court should hold that there was insufficient evidence to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt for counts IV and V, the second-degree identity theft and second-degree possession of stolen property of W. Bowen. In addition, the prosecutor committed serious, flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct in repeatedly misstating the law of accomplice liability and that misconduct prejudiced Gutierrez, Jr., in his defense. To the extent the misconduct might have been cured, counsel was ineffective in failing to make that attempt.

First, there was insufficient evidence to prove that Gutierrez, Jr., was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt as an accomplice to the seconddegree identity theft and forgery charges based on Visario's attempt to cash the apparently forged check which had Visario's name on it. Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction when, taken in the light most favorable to the state, the evidence could support a rational trier of fact finding guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See Jackson</u>, 443 U.S. at 319; <u>State v. Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980), <u>reversed in</u> <u>part and on other grounds by Washington v. Recuenco</u>, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006).

As Visario was the person whose name was on the check, who

presented the check, who was trying to get the benefit from the check and who was engaging in the interactions with the clerk about it, the only theory under which Gutierrez, Jr., could have been found guilty was as an accomplice to Visario's efforts to cash the check. A person is guilty as an accomplice if, "with knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime," he solicits, commands, encourages or requests that someone commit a crime or aids or agrees to aid that person in planning or committing the crime. RCW 9A.08.020(3). In this context, "the crime" means "the charged offense," so that an accomplice cannot be found guilty of crimes he did not know would be committed but only those crimes he was proven to have had knowledge that his "accomplice" acts would facilitate. <u>See State v. Roberts</u>, 142 Wn.2d 471, 510-11, 14 P.3d 713 (2000); <u>State v. Cronin</u>, 142 Wn.2d 568, 14 P.3d 752 (2000).

Put another way, the accomplice must "have the purpose to promote or facilitate the particular conduct that forms the basis for the charge," and the prosecution must prove that intent. <u>Roberts</u>, 142 Wn.2d at 511. Further, a person is not guilty as an accomplice unless he associates himself with the venture and takes some action to help make it successful. <u>See State v. Rotunno</u>, 95 Wn.2d 931, 933, 631 P.2d 951 (1981). "Mere presence" without aiding the principal is not sufficient to support liability as an accomplice, even if the defendant knows of the ongoing criminal activity. Id.

Thus, in <u>Welfare of Wilson</u>, 91 Wn.2d 487, 491, 588 P.2d 1161 (1979), there was insufficient evidence to prove a juvenile guilty as an accomplice when he was part of a group which had stolen

weatherstripping, tied it into a rope and then strung it across a road. In finding the evidence insufficient, the Supreme Court noted that Wilson was not actually seen holding the rope nor had he been seen participating in the theft other than being present. This was not enough, the Court held, because "even though a bystander's presence alone may, in fact, encourage the principal actor in his criminal or delinquent conduct, that does not in itself make the bystander a participant in the guilt." 91 Wn.2d at 491-92. Instead, there must be more than just evidence of presence and resulting encouragement - there must be evidence that the presence was for the *purpose* of encouragement, with the intent to assist or aid in the commission of the crime. <u>Id</u>.

Similarly, here, there was insufficient evidence to prove that Gutierrez, Jr., was more than just a bystander to Visario's forgery or attempts to cash the Valley Medical Center check at Checkmate. There was no evidence that Gutierrez, Jr., ever touched the check, or was involved in Visario's apparent amendment of it, in any way. It was Visario, not Gutierrez, Jr., who tried to present the check, Visario in whose name it was made out and Visario who had already created a relationship with Checkmate a few days before, setting up for the efforts the day he tried to pass off the Valley Medical Center check as his own. And it was Visario who drove the car in which he, Gutierrez, Jr., and the others arrived. Gutierrez, Jr., was shown only to have been in Visario's car, gone into the Checkmate with Visario and stood around while Visario approached the clerk, gave her the document and tried to pass it off as his own. Further, Gutierrez, Jr.'s alleged agitation when the clerk would not

give back Visario's license did not prove that Gutierrez, Jr., was involved in Visario's crimes - Visario was the driver of the car in which Gutierrez, Jr., had arrived and with whom he was presumably planning to leave - a driver who could not leave without the license the clerk would not give back.

At most, the prosecution proved that Gutierrez, Jr., was present when Visario tried to commit the crimes, not that Gutierrez, Jr., was a part of them, knew of them or was ready to assist in their commission. The prosecution failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Gutierrez, Jr., was an accomplice to Visario's crimes involving the Valley Medical Center check.

Notably, throughout trial, the prosecutor repeatedly misled the jury about what was required to convict Gutierrez, Jr., as an accomplice, misstating the law of accomplice liability and reducing the state's burden of proof for these very charges. And these arguments were serious, prejudicial and ill-intentioned flagrant misconduct.

Because of their status as "quasi-judicial" officers, prosecutors have special duties not imposed on other attorneys, such as the duty to seek justice instead of acting as a "heated partisan" by trying to gain conviction at all costs. <u>See State v. Charlton</u>, 90 Wn.2d 657, 664-65, 585 P.2d 142 (1978); <u>State v. Stith</u>, 71 Wn. App. 14, 18, 856 P.2d 415 (1993); <u>State v. Huson</u>, 73 Wn.2d 660, 662, 440 P.2d 192 (1968), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 393 U.S. 1096 (1969). When a prosecutor fails in this duty, he not only deprives the defendant's of the due process right to a fair trial but also denigrates the integrity of the prosecutor's role. <u>Charlton</u>, 90 Wn.2d at 664; State v. Suarez-Bravo, 72 Wn. App. 359, 367, 864 P.2d 426 (1994).

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