### NO. 45487-4

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

## LEOVIGILDO PEREZ GUTIERREA, JR., APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable John A. McCarthy

No. 13-1-00555-9

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By

BRIAN WASANKARI Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 28945

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

# **

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

less than \$1,500 worth of stuff, that's why it's second degree, or obtained nothing.

2 RP 175.

During closing statements, the prosecutor stated:

At the outset of this case, I told you that when you are in for a penny, you are in for a pound, and sometimes when you lie down with the dogs, you get fleas.

And the reason I use those metaphors is because that's what we are dealing with in this case . . . Visario and the defendant . . . were working together that day . . . And because of that, they became responsible for each other's criminal activities.

3 RP 406-407. After reading the definitional instruction of accomplice

liability out loud to the jury, he reviewed the instruction defining

circumstantial and direct evidence and the evidence presented at trial. 3

RP 407-08; CP 73 (Instruction #3); CP 77 (Instruction #7). He argued that

the Alaska Airlines credit card and Visario's insurance statement located

in Defendant's wallet, and the American Express credit card application

with Defendant's address located in Visario's vehicle showed that

Defendant and Visario were working together. 3 RP 409-410.

Furthermore, he argued:

[W]hen [Visario] presents that check to the Checkmate store with the defendant standing right there, going into the store with him, not just moral support, but actually encouraging and aiding him after the fact and trying to get him out of there, when he is going off while the clerk's holding onto the ID and to the bogus check, they are acting in concert. He is liable for his own conduct, yes, but also for Mr. Visario's conduct because he has chosen to make himself an accomplice. He has chosen to become involved in this enterprise with Mr. Visario.

3 RP 410-11. During the rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor readdressed the accomplice liability instruction and argued that defendant had a "very important" role to play "in coming to his friend's aid." 3 RP 455-56. In addition, he consistently acknowledged and repeated the State had the burden to prove all of the elements of the crimes. 4 RP 408, 412, 416, 418, 421. The defense attorney did not object to the statements or request a curative instruction at trial. 3 RP 425-26.<sup>5</sup>

As Defendant did not object to the prosecutor's statements at trial, he waived any potential claim of misconduct. Defendant also failed to make the necessary showing to prove the prosecutor's theme constituted flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct.

Defendant failed to show "no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury." *Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d at 455. First, the prosecutor did not misstate the law of accomplice liability. During opening statements and closing argument, he directed the jury to the instructions and argued the evidence presented was sufficient to prove

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> On the contrary, he addressed the contested phrase in his closing argument: The prosecutor has a nice catchphrase: You lie down with the dogs, you might catch fleas. This is true, if you lie down with dogs, you may get fleas. But nothing about that little catchphrase tells you anything about whether or not Mr. Gutierrez is guilty of the crimes he's charged with. These crimes are defined by law, not by a catchphrase. They have specific and unique definitions that if they cannot meet, he cannot be guilty.

each of the elements. Second, the prosecutor did not impermissibly shift the burden of proof to Defendant, or suggest that the State did not have the obligation to prove each element of the crimes beyond a reasonable doubt, but rather explicitly acknowledged the State's burden during his opening statements and closing arguments. The theme "you're in for a penny, in for a pound" and "if you lie down with dogs, you get fleas" did not relieve the State of its burden, but were descriptive metaphors used to provide a general understanding of accomplice liability.

Lastly, the prosecutor's comments did not rise to the level of inflammatory and blatantly prejudicial comments which courts have held cannot be neutralized by a curative instruction. *See State v. Belgarde*, 110 Wn.2d 504, 506-07, 755 P.2d 174 (1988) (prosecutor stated the American Indian group with which defendant was affiliated was "*a deadly group of madmen*" and "*butchers*," and told them to remember "*Wounded Knee*, *South Dakota*" (quoting VRP)); *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d at 674 (holding that prosecutor committed egregious racial misconduct by repeatedly referring to the police as "po-leese" and arguing that "black folk don't testify against black folk"). The prosecutor's statements do not reflect an effort to employ racist, classist, or other prejudicial arguments to achieve a conviction. He properly argued reasonable inferences that could be drawn from the evidence presented at trial. Defendant also fails to prove the misconduct resulted in prejudice that "had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict." *Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d at 455. The jury heard consistent testimony about defendant's behavior from Abdon and four law enforcement officers. It also heard uncontradicted testimony on the specific involvement and actions taken by defendant and Visario and received instructions properly stating the elements of each crime charged, defining accomplice liability, and clarifying which evidence it could consider. The prosecutor's theme explaining the general concept of accomplice liability were not likely to have altered the outcome of this case.

Defendant claims the prosecutor's argument could not be cured by an instruction because it was "easy to remember and likely to be consistent with the everyday beliefs of jurors about when someone is responsible, at least in some way, for the acts of another." Br. App. 13. This argument directly contradicts the established principle that the jury is presumed to follow the trial court's instructions. *State v. Allen*, 89 Wn.2d 651, 574 P.2d 1182 (1978); *Warren*, 165 Wn.2d at 29. Here, the court properly instructed the jury on the law of accomplice liability, and the deputy prosecutor pointed the jury to this instruction. 3 RP 407-08.

Defendant also argues the "in for a penny, in for a pound" argument suggests a person who engages is *any* criminal conduct with some may be held liable for *all* the crimes that person ends up committing,

- 23 -

citing *State v. Cronin*, 142 Wn.2d at 578-79. Br.App. 12. Yet, the concern addressed in *Cronin* and previously in *State v. Roberts*, in which the Supreme Court held an accomplice must have actual knowledge of the crime charged, not just any crime, is not at issue in the present case because the prosecutor argued that defendant had knowledge of the specific crimes that Visario committed when he attempted to cash a forged check. 3 RP 410-11. At no point did he argue it was not necessary to prove Defendant's knowledge of the crime or Defendant could be held liable for all of Visario's actions. 3 RP 406-24, 451-60.

As Defendant did not show that the statements were so inflammatory they could not have been diffused by an instruction and they resulted in prejudice, he failed to prove the prosecutor's statements were flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct.

## 3. DEFENDANT FAILED TO SHOW DEFENSE COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE PROSECUTOR'S THEME.

Defendant argues even if the prosecutor's statements could have been cured, defense counsel was ineffective for his failure to object to the allegedly improper statements. Br.App. 14.

A Defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must show that his counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that this deficient performance prejudiced his trial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d (1984); *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251

(1995). There is a strong presumption of effective representation of counsel, and the defendant must show there was no legitimate strategic or tactical reason for the challenged conduct. *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 335-36. To show prejudice, the defendant must show that but for the deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different. *In re Personal Restraint of Pirtle*, 136 Wn.2d 467, 487, 965 P.2d 593 (1998). If the appellate court concludes that either prong has not been met, it need not address the other prong. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 700. The Appellate Court reviews claims of ineffective assistance of counsel de novo. *State v. Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d 870, 883, 204 P.3d 916 (2009) (citing *In re Personal Restraint of Fleming*, 142 Wn.2d 853, 865, 16 P.3d 610 (2001)).

Defendant's argument in the present case fails on both prongs of the *Strickland* test. First, he does not show that his counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness at trial when he did not object to the prosecutor's statements. Defense counsel addressed the prosecutor's theme multiple times during his closing argument. 3 RP 432. After reading the accomplice liability instruction to the jury, he states:

That last sentence right there tells you lying down with the dogs getting fleas isn't making you an accomplice. You can have terrible friends. You can know that they are committing crimes.

3 RP 433. He goes on to argue that evidence does not demonstrate that defendant acted as an accomplice, thereby effectively addressing and rebutting the prosecutor's statements. Furthermore, the record indicates defense counsel consistently advocated on behalf of Defendant throughout the trial.<sup>6</sup>

Second, as discussed above, Defendant fails to show the prosecutor's theme prejudiced Defendant at trial. Given the strong presumption of effective representation, Defendant fails to show his counsel was deficient for failure to object to the prosecutor's statements.

4. THIS COURT SHOULD REJECT DEFENDANT'S CHALLENGE TO THE IMPOSITION OF LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS BECAUSE THE ISSUE WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL, IS NOT RIPE FOR REVIEW, AND FAILS ON ITS MERITS.

The sentencing court's authority to impose court costs and fees is statutory. *See State v. Hathaway*, 161 Wn. App. 634, 652, 251 P.3d 253 (2011). While the question of whether a trial court had statutory authority to impose legal financial obligations (LFOs) is reviewed de novo, the court's determination of a defendant's ability to pay discretionary LFOs is reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. *See State v. Smith*, 119

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Throughout the pre-trial, trial, and sentencing proceedings, defense counsel competently questioned witnesses, made objections and motions, and presented well supported arguments in favor of his client. E.g., 1 RP 49, 156-158, 2 RP 174, 177-81, 195, 289, 3 RP 334-35, 345-348, 361-62, 380-84, 418, 425-43, 445-51, SRP 4-6.

Wn.2d 385, 389, 831 P.2d 1082 (1992); *State v. Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App.
393, 404 n. 13, 267 P.3d 511 (2011) (citing *State v. Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App.
303, 312, 818 P.2d 1116, 837 P.2d 646 (1992)), *review denied*, 175 Wn.2d
1014 (2012). Such findings are only clearly erroneous when a review of
all the evidence results in a definite conviction a mistake has been made. *State v. Lundy*, 176 Wn. App. 96, 105, 308 P.3d 755 (2013).

In this case, the sentencing hearing occurred on October 18, 2013, before the Honorable Judge A. McCarthy. SRP 1. The State requested the court to impose the mandatory \$500 crime victim penalty assessment, \$200 for court costs, a \$100 DNA sample fee, as well as a discretionary sum of \$1,500 for DAC recoupment. SRP 3. The court followed the State's recommendation and imposed a total of \$2,300 in LFOs. SRP 7; CP 112. Paragraph 2.5 of Defendant's judgment and sentence contains the following finding of Defendant's ability to pay LFOs:

This court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant's past, present, and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including the defendant's financial resources and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change. The court finds that the defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay the legal financial obligations imposed herein.

CP 112. Defendant did not object to the imposition of LFOs or offer any information contradicting the court's assessment of his ability to pay. SRP 4-9.

#### a. <u>The issue is not ripe for review.</u>

The time to challenge an order establishing LFOs that does not limit a defendant's liberty is when the State attempts to curtail a defendant's liberty by enforcing them. *Lundy*, 176 Wn. App. at 108; *Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. at 310; *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. 514, 523– 524, 216 P.3d 1097 (2009); *see also State v. Blank*, 131 Wn.2d 230, 242, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997). The time to examine a defendant's ability to pay costs is when the government seeks to collect the obligation because the determination of whether the defendant either has or will have the ability to pay is clearly somewhat speculative. *Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. at 311; *see also State v. Crook*, 146 Wn. App. 24, 27, 189 P.3d 811 (2008). A defendant's indigent status at the time of sentencing does not bar an award of costs. *Id.* Likewise, the proper time for findings "is the point of collection and when sanctions are sought for nonpayment." *Blank*, 131 Wn.2d 230, 241–242.

Nothing in the record indicates that the State has sought to collect costs from Defendant or when Defendant is expected to begin payment. There is no evidence the State has attempted to collect LFOs from Defendant. Nor does the record indicate an express payment commencement date. *See* 1-4 RP, SRP, 8/1/13 RP, 3/20/13 RP. *Compare with Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. at 404-405) (reviewing the merits of the trial court's sentencing conditions because a disabled defendant was ordered to commence payment of LFOs within 60 days of entry of judgment and sentence while still incarcerated). The time to challenge the costs is at the time the State seeks to collect them because while the defendant may or may not have assets at this time, the defendant's future ability to pay is speculative. In addition, the defendant can take advantage of the protections provided by statute at the time the State seeks to collect the costs imposed. RCW 10.01.160(4).<sup>7</sup> Therefore, Defendant's challenge to the imposed LFOs is not ripe for review.

#### b. <u>The issue was not preserved for appeal.</u>

RAP 2.5(a) grants the Appellate Court discretion in refusing to review claims of error not raised at the trial court level. RAP 2.5(a) also provides three circumstances in which an appellant may raise an issue for the first time on appeal: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, or (3) manifest error

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> RCW 10.01.160(4):

A defendant who has been ordered to pay costs and who is not in contumacious default in the payment thereof may at any time petition the sentencing court for remission of the payment of costs or of any unpaid portion thereof. If it appears to the satisfaction of the court that payment of the amount due will impose manifest hardship on the defendant or the defendant's immediate family, the court may remit all or part of the amount due in costs, or modify the method of payment under RCW 10.01.170.

affecting a constitutional right. *Id.* This Court has consistently declined to allow a defendant to challenge the imposition of LFOs for the first time on appeal. *See e.g.*, *State v. Blazina*, 174 Wn. App. 906, 911, 301 P.3d 492 (2013), *rev. granted*, *State v. Blazina*, Wn.2d 1010, 311 P.3d 27 (2013).

Defendant did not object to the imposition of LFOs at trial, nor did he claim any of the three circumstances listed under RAP 2.5(a) in which an issue could be raised for the first time on appeal. "The purpose underlying issue preservation rules is to encourage the efficient use of judicial resources by ensuring that the trial court has the opportunity to correct any errors, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals." State v. Hamilton, 179 Wn. App. 870, 878, 320 P.3d 142 (2014). Allowing Defendant to challenge the LFOs for the first time on appeal would undermine that purpose since the trial court was better situated to resolve disagreements about Defendant's ability to pay. Both Defendant and his counsel were given an opportunity to allocute at sentencing; neither excepted to the imposition of LFOs. Judicial resources should not be wasted because Defendant did not bother to raise the issue below. His unpreserved challenge to the lawfully imposed LFOs should be rejected without review.

### c. <u>The trial court acted within its statutory</u> <u>authority when it imposed LFOs on</u> <u>Defendant.</u>

Sentencing courts are vested with statutory authority to impose court costs and fees on convicted defendants. A number of LFOs are mandatory. *See e.g.*, RCW 7.68.035(1)(a) (crime victim assessment fee). The court may also impose discretionary fines pursuant to RCW 10.01.160.

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